RECEIVED

Feb 13 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-GS-28-1499
Appellate Case No. 2024-001951

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Stacey M. Catoe,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jack Swerling
1720 Main Street, Suite 301
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: (803) 765-2626
South Carolina Bar No. 5457

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's request to include the laws of appearance, retreat, and prior difficulties between the parties in the jury instructions despite the State's discussion of the law of self-defense in closing argument when the trial judge did not instruct the jury on self-defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 7, 2018, a Kershaw County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Stacey McClintock Catoe for the murder of Brenda Coates (2018-GS-28-1499). R. p. 1. Appellant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Robert E. Hood on October 8-10 and 14-15, 2024. Jack Swerling and George Speedy represented Appellant at trial, and Dale Scott and Michael Bradbury prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty of murder, and Judge Hood sentenced Appellant to thirty-five (35) years in prison with a credit of two hundred and thirty-two (232) days of time served. R. p. 3. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). With respect to jury instructions, an appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision unless the trial court committed an abuse of discretion. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or factually is without evidentiary support. *State v. McGowan*, 430 S.C. 373,379, 845 S.E.2d 503, 505-06 (Ct. App. 2020) (citing *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166-67 (2007)). If the appellate court does find error in the jury instruction at issue, such errors are subject to harmless error analysis. An appellate court simply determines whether the [circuit court]'s ruling is supported by any

evidence. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001).

FACTS

Appellant and Jody Catoe were married young and had one child, Caitlyn. R. pp. 414; 416. They indulged in the normal life of a small town, spending time with family who all lived close by. R. pp. 419-420. However, in the years before the death of Brenda Coates, Jody and Appellant's marriage deteriorated. R. 422-423. Testimony revealed that both of the Catoes liked to drink; however, Jody's drinking was often accompanied by violence—to include prior instances of discharging a firearm both inside the Catoe's home and in public. R. pp. 613-616. Jody kept his gun close by and was known to holster it in his back right pocket. R. p. 191. Over the years, Appellant grew to fear her husband's drinking and his temper, and their only child Caitlyn testified that Jody was the instigator of their fights. R. pp. 613-616. Jody called Appellant terrible names; had fired his gun into the walls of their kitchen and bathroom; and humiliated Appellant in public. *Id.* Jody was also known to stray in his marriage and eventually moved into a camper known as the "Stab House," an apparent euphemism for the location where Jody brought his paramours. R. p. 214, lines 22-25.

Then, on June 17, 2018, Appellant got in her car to look for her husband Jody and his known paramour Brenda Coates. R. p. 463. Appellant testified that she tried to get pictures of them together for purposes of divorce proceedings, and after seeing pictures of Jody and Brenda partying on a boat that day, Appellant believed that she would finally be able to obtain evidence for her divorce. R. p. 460. Appellant had previously told Brenda that she wanted Brenda to take Jody so he would leave Appellant and her daughter alone. Obtaining a divorce would mean freedom from Jody's abuse.

Appellant passed Brenda and Jody driving. Appellant testified that she turned her car

around and followed them, keen on photographing the two alone in the dark on a deserted road. R. p. 460, lines 12-16. Appellant pulled up to the car where Brenda had parked and saw Jody standing outside or partially in Brenda's car. R. p. 465, lines 13-25. Appellant testified to the exchange of words; a mutual "what the fuck are you doing here?" Then, Appellant saw Jody reach towards his back right pocket-the pocket that she knew he carried his pistol in. *Id.* She testified that terror overtook her; she dropped her phone that was ready to take photos of Jody and Brenda and instinctively reached for her own gun in the console. *Id.*

Appellant was candid about the confusion and jumbled memories of what happened next. She remembered reaching for her gun to protect herself from what appeared was about to be a gunshot from Jody, and then she remembered the gun going off. *Id.* She remembered being frightened and disoriented, trying to protect herself from what she feared would be another series of gunshots from Jody. Jody told law enforcement agents in all three of his interviews following the shooting death of Brenda Coates that Appellant did not mean to shoot her. R. p. 229, lines 18-22.

ARGUMENT

By rejecting Appellant's proposed jury instructions regarding appearance, retreat, and prior difficulties, the trial Court abused its discretion by creating jury confusion between the State's discussion of the law of self-defense and the trial Court's decision not to charge self-defense.

When a criminal defendant claims that they armed themselves in self-defense, but that the actual shooting was accidental, this combination of events can "place the shooting in the context of self-defense." *State v. McCaskill*, 300 S.C. 256, 258, 387 S.E.2d 268, 269 (1990) (quoting *People v. Brooks*, 130 Ill.App.3d 747, 751, 86 Ill. Dec. 90, 94, 474 N.E.2d 1287, 1290 (1985)).

In *McCaskill*, the pregnant defendant began fighting with her boyfriend and his estranged wife, and the boyfriend threatened to beat her up. *Id.* at 257, 387 S.E.2d at 269. The defendant ran into her bedroom to get her gun to protect herself and her fetus, and then returned to the den. The boyfriend jumped on the defendant, at which time the gun fired, killing the wife. *Id.* at 257-258, 270. The trial court refused to instruct the jury that self-defense was applicable *under the defense of accident* to show that the defendant was in lawful possession of her gun, instead clearly distinguishing the defense of self-defense from the defense of accident, which focuses on the defendant's act of shooting the gun rather than possession of the gun. *Id.* at 258, 269. Further, the trial court instructed the jury that the defendant had the right under the self-defense doctrine to shoot someone, but the court failed to charge the jury that the defense of accident *would* apply if the defendant was in lawful possession of the gun. *Id.*

On appeal, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that if the defendant was in lawful possession of the gun in her home, the defense of accident would apply, particularly given the evidence that the wife of the defendant's boyfriend had attacked the defendant in the past. *Id.* at 259.

In the instant case, the State and the defense were aware that the Court did not intend to instruct the jury on the law relating to self-defense as the basis of a possible acquittal on that theory. However, during the final argument to the jury, the State went into great detail concerning the elements of self-defense. The State argued that self-defense was not applicable because the Defendant brought on the difficulty. R. p. 694. The State argued the Defendant had to be in imminent danger of death or serious bodily harm, and that she was never in imminent danger. R. p. 695. The State further argued that a reasonable person of ordinary firmness and courage would not have entertained the same belief. The State also argued that self-defense

did not apply because the Defendant had other means of avoiding the difficulty, such as driving away-essentially, retreat. R. pp. 696-697.

The Court instructed the jury on the law related to murder and the law of transferred intent. R. pp. 745-746. The Court instructed the jury on the law relating to accident, including language that "a defendant exercising due care who accidentally harms another while acting in self-defense is acting lawfully." R. p. 746. The Court then instructed the jury on the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter, stating that "a person acting in self-defense is engaged in a lawful activity." R. p. 747.

After the State's closing argument and at the conclusion of the Court's charge to the jury, the defense requested that the Court instruct the jury on: (1) the law of appearance as it related to self-defense, R. p. 753; (2) the law regarding no duty to retreat if it would increase the danger to a person. R. p. 753; and (3) the consideration of prior difficulties between the parties in the context of self-defense, R. p. 753. In South Carolina, it has long been held that a defendant may act on appearances as a reasonable belief in the need to use deadly force. *State v. Fuller*, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328 (1989). Prior difficulties between the parties may be considered as to the need to use deadly force in self-defense, *State v. Clinkscales*, 231 S.C. 650, 99 S.E.2d 663 (1957), and a person need not retreat where retreat would increase the likelihood of suffering bodily harm or death. *Fuller, supra*. These instructions were necessary to clarify the law on issues presented at trial.

The Court did not charge the elements of self-defense, but the State went into great detail in its closing argument, discussing the elements and the law relating to self-defense. The Court even noted, "My guess is within the next hour we're going to get a question where they want the elements of self-defense." R. p. 754.

With the Court not giving instructions on the elements of self-defense and the State arguing the law as to those elements, the Defendant's request for the Court to instruct the jury was appropriate and necessary. The jury was left to consider whether the Defendant lawfully armed herself in self-defense without instruction on the law from the Court and instead was left to rely on the State's declaration of what the law was regarding self-defense. This was error.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should reverse and remand this case for a new trial.