**RECEIVED**

**Feb 03 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Kershaw County  
The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001951

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

STACEY M. CATOE,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. BYRON E. GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit  
Post Office Box 192

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

The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E.2d 120 (1979); State v. Turbeville, 275 S.C. 534, 536, 273 S.E.2d 764, 765 (1981). The trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 108 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999); State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 433 S.E.2d 848 (1993). This Court reviews jury instructions for abuse of discretion, meaning that to warrant reversal the instruction must have misstated the law and prejudiced the defendant. State v. Owens, 427 S.C. 325, 330, 831 S.E.2d 126 (2019); State v. Jenkins, 408 S.C. 560, 569, 759 S.E.2d 759, 764 (Ct. App. 2014). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or factually is without evidentiary support. State v. McGowan, 430 S.C. 373, 379, 845 S.E.2d 503, 505-06 (Ct. App. 2020). If the appellate court does find error in the jury instruction at issue, such errors are subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Brooks, 428 S.C. 618, 633, 837 S.E.2d 236 (Ct. App. 2019). An appellate court simply determines whether the [circuit court]'s ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001).

## The Specific Issue Raised on Appeal

In this appeal, Catoe does not object to the trial court's accident charge or to the trial court's decision not to charge the defense of self-defense. (IBOR, pp. i, 1-6). Catoe does not argue the case should be reversed because of the Solicitor's closing argument. (IBOR, pp. i. 1-6). Catoe argues something unusual. (IBOR, pp. i., 1-6). Catoe argues on appeal that Judge Hood abused his discretion by not charging three (3) related principles of self-defense: (1) acting on appearances; (2) the duty to retreat; and (3) prior difficulties between the parties, after the Solicitor discussed the four (4) required elements of self-defense during his closing argument. [Catoe also discussed the elements of self-defense in her closing argument.] Catoe is wrong and Catoe's conviction must be affirmed. The three (3) related principles of self-defense were properly not charged to the jury because Catoe was asserting the defense of accident, not self-defense, and there is a difference between being armed in self-defense and use of a deadly weapon in self-defense, and for a defendant to lawfully arm themselves in self-defense they do not have to meet all of the elements of the defense of self-defense. Further, the failure to give the defendant's requested charge of the three (3) additional principles of self-defense was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

## Law/Analysis

For a homicide to be excusable on the ground of accident, it must be shown the killing was: (1) unintentional, (2) **the defendant was acting lawfully**, and (3) due care was exercised in the handling of the weapon. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 271, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011); State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 440 S.E.2d 370 (1994); State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 259, 513 S.E.2d 104, 106 (1999); State v. Brown, 205 S.C. 514, 521, 32 S.E.2d 825, 828 (1945). "A person can be acting lawfully, even if he is in unlawful possession of a weapon, if he was entitled to *arm*

*himself in self-defense* at the time of the shooting.” State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 180, 691 S.E.2d 482, 485 (Ct. App. 2010)(quoting State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 52, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003)(emphasis added).

There is a difference between *lawfully arming oneself in self-defense* and in *using a weapon in self-defense*. State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 648, n. 6, 664 S.E.2d 465, 468, n. 6 (2008) (*Light II*); State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 182, 691 S.E.2d 482, 486–87 (Ct. App. 2010).

...[A]t the point of the analysis of determining whether one is [lawfully] armed in self-defense, the court is “concerned only with whether [the defendant] had a right to be armed for purposes of determining whether he was engaged in a lawful act, i.e. was **lawfully armed**, and not whether he actually acted in self-defense when the shooting occurred.”

Light, *supra*; Brayboy, 387 S.C. at 181, 691 S.E.2d at 486 (emphasis added). In Brayboy, the State argued that Brayboy was not entitled to a charge of involuntary manslaughter because he was *not acting lawfully* at the time of the killing and **he could not meet all of the elements of self-defense**.

Id. This Court held:

There is no merit to the State's argument that Brayboy was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge **because he could not meet the necessary prongs of a self-defense charge**. The supreme court's decision in *Light II* makes it clear the question is not whether one is **acting** in self-defense at the time of the shooting, but whether the defendant is **lawfully armed** at the time of the shooting. Therefore, whether a defendant is entitled to a self-defense charge is of no consequence.

Brayboy, 387 S.C. at 182, 691 S.E.2d 486-487. This Court went on to hold that there was evidence from which the jury could find Brayboy was *lawfully armed in self-defense* and negligently handled the firearm, therefore he was entitled to a charge on involuntary manslaughter. Id.

Again, in Wigington v. State, 413 S.C. 578, 586, 776 S.E.2d 407, 411 (Ct. App. 2015), this Court held:

There is a difference between being armed in self-defense and acting in self-defense.... [In] determining whether one is armed in self-defense, the court is “concerned only with whether the defendant had a right to be armed for purposes of determining whether he was engaged in a lawful act, i.e. was lawfully armed, and not whether he actually acted in self-defense when the shooting occurred.

Wigington, 413 S.C. 578, 586, 776 S.E.2d 407, 411; (citing Brayboy, 387 S.C. at 181, 691 S.E.2d at 486)(quoting Light, 378 S.C. 641, 664 S.E.2d 465). And, “[a] person can be acting lawfully, even if he is in unlawful possession of a weapon, if he was entitled to arm himself in self-defense at the time of the shooting.” Wigington, 413 S.C. at 586, 776 S.E.2d at 411 (citing Brayboy, 387 S.C. at 180, 691 S.E.2d at 485 (quoting State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 52, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003))). This Court then held that Wigington’s counsel was ineffective for failing to request an involuntary manslaughter instruction where there was *some evidence Wigington lawfully armed himself in self-defense* where Wigington testified he armed himself because he was afraid of his son, the victim, and he was afraid his son might harm him or the children. This Court did not require Wigington to meet all of the elements of self-defense to lawfully arm himself in self-defense. Wigington, 413 S.C. at 588-89, 776 S.E.2d at 412.

Petitioner also testified his son's threat and prior act of domestic violence against him made him afraid for his and his grandchildren's safety. Accordingly, evidence from trial indicates Petitioner may have been armed in self-defense at the time of the shooting and Petitioner may have been recklessly handling the loaded gun at the time of his son's death.

Id. As a result, this Court found that counsel was ineffective in not requesting a charge on involuntary manslaughter because there was evidence from which the jury could have found Wigington armed himself in self-defense.<sup>3</sup> Judge Hood did not abuse his discretion in declining

---

<sup>3</sup>In State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999), the issue was whether the defendant was entitled to an accident charge. The Court noted in a footnote that the four (4) elements of self-

to charge Catoe's three (3) additional principles of self-defense, because it was not necessary for Catoe to meet the four (4) elements of self-defense to begin with to arm herself in self-defense, and she was not asserting the defense of self-defense but accident.<sup>4</sup> The State's and Catoe's discussion in their closing arguments of the four (4) elements of self-defense was simply irrelevant because Catoe did not need to meet those four (4) elements to arm herself and her three (3) additional principles of self-defense were irrelevant. Catoe always claimed she did not fire the gun, but it discharged accidentally when the gun struck the door or the window. She also claimed there were problems with her gun, i.e. it could discharge accidentally. (R. 413-575).

Because the defense of accident is not applicable unless the defendant was acting lawfully at the time of the killing, it is necessary to instruct the jury as to what constitutes a lawful enterprise. State v. McCaskill, 300 S.C. 256, 259, 387 S.E.2d 268, 270 (1990); State v. Owens, 427 S.C. 325, 332, 821 S.E.2d 126, 129 (Ct. App. 2019) *affirmed* State v. Owens, 433 S.C. 482, 860 S.E.2d 357 (2021). In McCaskill, a shooting that occurred inside the defendant's home where the defendant was assaulted by her husband and his girlfriend, the Court held the trial court erred in failing to

---

defense *were relevant to the Court's analysis* of whether the appellant armed himself in self-defense at the time of the fatal shooting and was therefore entitled to an accident charge. Burriss, 334 S.C. at 262-64, n. 6; 513 S.E.2d at 108-09. *See also* State v. Stoots, 445 S.C. 127, 137, 912 S.E.2d 248, 254 (2025)(noting whether a defendant lawfully and non-negligently armed himself in self-defense can be determinative whether he is entitled to a jury charge on the law of accident).<sup>4</sup> There is a difference between arming oneself in self-defense, i.e. picking up a gun because one is afraid, *and* using a gun in self-defense, actually using deadly force, i.e. intentionally firing a gun. One does not have to meet all of the elements of self-defense to arm oneself in self-defense. For example, element (4) of self-defense requires a duty to use reasonable force and avoid the difficulty, i.e. retreat if possible. A person does not have to meet element (4) of self-defense to lawfully arm oneself in self-defense. That is because in arming oneself in self-defense, the defendant has not used deadly force yet. One has a duty to retreat only before **using deadly force**, i.e. actually firing the weapon. The fact that counsel for both sides argued something that is legally incorrect, does not mean the trial court should charge the jury on principles of law not applicable to the case to further compound the problem and confuse the jury. However, that is Catoe's argument on appeal. (IBOA).

charge the jury that the defendant had a right to possess a weapon in her own home **and** in failing to charge the jury that if the defendant lawfully armed herself in self-defense because of a threat to her safety created by the decedent, and the gun accidentally discharged, the jury would have to find her not guilty under the defense of accident. The Court held the trial judge's traditional self-defense charge which focused only on the right *to use* the weapon in self-defense was inadequate. McCaskill, 300 S.C. at 259, 387 S.E.2d at 270.

In the present case, Judge Hood's charge focused on intentional and accidental conduct. Judge Hood instructed the jury that the State had to prove criminal intent, and the State had to prove malice. He defined malice as the intentional doing of a wrongful act. In contrast, Judge Hood instructed the jury that if Catoe was acting in self-defense, she was acting lawfully, and if the gun accidentally discharged during that act, as long as she used due care while handling the weapon, she would be entitled to an acquittal under the law of accident. (R. 746, ln. 7-747, ln. 4). Catoe did not object to this portion of the accident charge below. In fact, she approved of it beforehand and requested it in both the accident and involuntary manslaughter charge. (R. 658, ln. 1-665, ln. 5). Catoe did not object or request clarification of this portion of the accident charge after it was given. (R. 752-54).<sup>5</sup> Catoe does not argue on appeal that the accident charge was incorrect. (IBOA, pp. i, 1-6). Judge Hood's entire charge told the jury self-defense is a lawful activity. (R. 746-747). Catoe only argues that where Judge Hood did not charge self-defense, and the State argued in its closing argument the elements of self-defense in regard to whether Catoe was lawfully armed, the jury should have been instructed on *additional principles of the defense of self-defense* [not the elements of self-defense], i.e. appearances; prior difficulties and retreat;

---

<sup>5</sup> The only objection to the accident charge was the inclusion of mere negligence in that charge and in the involuntary manslaughter charge. (R. 665, ln. 9 – 666, ln. 11; 752-754). Any other objection to the accident charge given by Judge Hood was waived at trial and cannot now be raised on appeal.

because the jury was left to consider whether Catoe was lawfully armed without instruction on these three (3) principles and had to rely on the State's explanation of the law. (IBOA, pp. i., 1-6). His argument boils down to arguing Judge Hood erred in not charging three (3) additional principles of self-defense: appearances, prior difficulties, and retreat, when the State [and Catoe] discussed the four (4) elements of self-defense in their closing argument. (IBOA, pp. i., 1-6).

Where the defendant relies on the theory of accidental homicide, and there was no testimony of self-defense, the jury need not have been instructed on self-defense. State v. Turbeville, 275 S.C. 534, 273 S.E.2d 764 (1981). Here throughout the trial, Catoe repeatedly stated that she never pulled the trigger on her gun, but the gun accidentally discharged, after she crouched down, leaned forward, and the gun hit the passenger door or window of her car. (R. 413-575). State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 733 S.E.2d 605 (Ct. App. 2012), is inapplicable to this case. In Williams, the defendant repeatedly testified he both shot the victim *intentionally* in self-defense **and** that the gun just went off *accidentally*. This Court held under that scenario, where the defendant testified that he both intentionally fired the gun **and** the gun went off accidentally, he was entitled to instructions on both self-defense and accident.<sup>6</sup> That did not occur in this case. Catoe repeatedly testified that she never pulled the trigger on her .380 caliber pistol. (R. 413-575). The pistol went off when it struck her passenger door or passenger window. She testified she did not intentionally shoot at Victim or Jody. (R. 413-575). She testified there were problems with that gun, her gun. (R. 413-575). Based on the record, Catoe did not seek a charge on the elements of self-defense below to argue the actual defense of self-defense. There was no objection to Judge

---

<sup>6</sup> This Court's holding in Williams was recognized in State v. White, 425 S.C. 304, 312, 821 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2018).

Hood not charging self-defense. (R. 658-666; 752-754). There was only *mention* of the fact Judge Hood did not charge self-defense. (R. 752-754).

In fact, defense counsel informed the trial court below and argues on appeal, that Judge Hood erred only because the State argued the elements of self-defense in its closing after the trial court informed both sides it was not charging self-defense, and at that point the Court should have charged three (3) related principles of self-defense: the right to act on appearances, prior difficulties, and retreat. However, Catoe does not mention in her brief, that she also argued the elements of self-defense in her closing argument as well. Catoe also does not inform this Court why both the Solicitor and she argued the elements of self-defense below. Neither argued the elements of self-defense as if self-defense was being asserted as a defense in this case, but only to explain why Catoe either did or did not meet element two (2) of the defense of accident, i.e. she was or was not acting lawfully at the time of the killing. The Solicitor argued that Catoe did not meet element two (2) of the defense of accident, because she could not meet all of the elements of self-defense; therefore, she was not lawfully armed in self-defense at the time of the shooting. Catoe argued she did meet element two (2) of the defense of accident because based on her testimony and the testimony of her other witnesses she did meet all of the elements of self-defense; therefore, she was lawfully armed in self-defense at the time of the shooting. Both the State and Catoe were incorrect that she had to meet the four (4) elements of self-defense. Light; Wigington; Brayboy. The fact that both attorneys argue law inapplicable to the case, or argue the law incorrectly, cannot pigeonhole or require a circuit judge to charge principles of law not applicable to the case. This was a case where the defendant asserted the defense of accident, and Catoe did not have to meet the four (4) elements of self-defense to lawfully arm herself in self-defense. Light; Wigington; Brayboy. Judge Hood was not required to charge three (3) additional principles of

self-defense where self-defense was not applicable and Catoe did not have to meet the elements of self-defense to arm herself in self-defense. Id.

Further, looking at the entire charge, there was no error here. (R. 738-52). Judge Hood charged criminal intent and that to convict Catoe of murder the State must prove malice and malice was defined as the intentional doing of a wrongful act. State v. Stoots, 445 S.C. 127, 136-39, 912 S.E.2d 248, 253-55 (2025)(court’s criminal intent charge covered the principle involved in accident charge and there was therefore no error in failing to charge Stoots’ requested accident charge); State v. Owens, 433 S.C. 482, 860 S.E.2d 357, 357-58 (2021)(where the defendant asserts accident the State must prove a voluntary intentional act with malice, and malice is the intentional doing of a wrongful act). The jury understood if Catoe accidentally killed Victim, while exercising due care with the weapon, she must be found not guilty and if Catoe intentionally shot Victim with malice she was guilty of murder. Stoots: Owens.

*Harmless error*

Any failure to charge Catoe’s requested three (3) additional principles of self-defense: appearances; prior difficulties; and retreat was harmless on this record for several reasons. State v. Brooks, 428 S.C. 618, 628, 837 S.E.2d 236, 241 (Ct. App. 2019). The question here is whether the failure to charge the three (3) principles of self-defense: (1) appearances; (2) prior difficulties; and (3) retreat contributed to the verdict. It did not.

“In making a harmless error analysis, [the appellate court’s] inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.” State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). (quoting State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014)); State v. Brooks, 428 S.C. 618, 628, 837 S.E.2d 236, 241 (Ct. App. 2019).

“To say that an error did not ‘contribute’ to the ensuing verdict is not, of course, to say that the jury was totally unaware of that feature of the trial later held to have been erroneous.” Yates v. Evatt, 500 U.S. 391, 403, (1991), *overruled on other grounds by* Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, (1991). Rather, it is “to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record.” Id. “Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry.” Middleton, 407 S.C. at 317, 755 S.E.2d at 435. The appellate court “must review the facts the jury heard and weigh those facts against the erroneous jury charge to determine what effect, if any, it had on the verdict.” State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 145, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998). Further, “[w]hen considering whether an incorrect jury instruction constitutes harmless error, [the appellate court is] required to review the trial court’s charge to the jury in its entirety.” Burdette, 427 S.C. at 498, 832 S.E.2d at 580 (citing State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 264, 741 S.E.2d 708, 714 (2013), *overruled on other grounds by* Burdette, 427 S.C. at 505 n.3, 832 S.E.2d at 583 n.3); Stanko, 402 S.C. at 264, 741 S.E.2d at 714 (“Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions [that] may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.”).

“Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry.” Middleton, 407 S.C. at 317, 755 S.E.2d at 435. The appellate court “must review the facts the jury heard and weigh those facts against the erroneous jury charge to determine what effect, if any, it had on the verdict.” State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 145, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998). Further, “[w]hen considering whether an incorrect jury instruction constitutes harmless error, [the appellate court is] required to review the trial court’s charge to the jury in its entirety.” Burdette, 427 S.C. at 498, 832 S.E.2d at 580 (citing State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 264, 741 S.E.2d 708, 714 (2013), *overruled on other grounds by* Burdette, 427 S.C. at 505 n.3, 832 S.E.2d at 583 n.3); Stanko, 402 S.C. at 264,

741 S.E.2d at 714 (“Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions [that] may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.”).

First, Judge Hood’s charge was one that was based on intent and focused on the difference between an intentional act and one done by accident. Judge Hood also charged reasonable doubt.

Second, Catoe could not meet the four (4) elements of self-defense even if they were required. Catoe could not show she was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. State v. White, 425 S.C. 304, 821, S.E.2d 523 (2018); State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 442, 453 (1984). Catoe was at fault in bringing on the difficulty as it is undisputed that Jody and Victim were riding in Victim’s vehicle on their own to pick up Jody’s truck and not bothering anyone. Catoe admitted she went out at night looking for Jody and Victim with a loaded gun in her car. (R. 413-575). She first went toward Jody’s camper where she had on a previous night broken out a window in an attempt to catch Victim and Jody together. Catoe admitted that on the night of the murder when she saw Victim and Jody going in the opposite direction in Victim’s car, Catoe turned around and followed Victim and Jody. Catoe admitted she followed them for some time until she finally caught up with them. (R. 413-565). Catoe had previously told Victim she was not going to let Victim and Jody be together in an e-mail used at trial. (State’s Ex. 42; R. 413-575). Catoe admitted she followed them until she could pull up beside them at a secluded location, in the dark, at 9:30 p.m., where an argument took place between Catoe and Jody. She and Jody were both cursing at each other, according to her. The shooting occurred seconds later. (R. 413-575). The shooting would not have occurred if Catoe had not followed Victim and Jody and confronted them at the rural intersection in the dark. Catoe admitted at trial or in an e-mail, that she had other pictures of Victim and Jody together. (State’s Ex. 42; R. 413-575). Plus, she had multiple affairs on her husband. (R. 413-575). She did not need more photographs for a divorce. She was basically stalking Victim

and her estranged husband. Regardless, she cannot show she was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Davis, 282 S.C. at 46, 317 S.E.2d at 453.

Further, she admitted she never saw a gun. (R. 413-575). She testified she only saw Jody reach for his back pocket, and she claimed she saw this through the front windshield, which is impossible based on the angle of the bullet that struck the victim and also where the bullet struck the dash and then lodged in the door. Catoe cannot show she was actually in fear of death or serious bodily injury at the time of the incident, *or* that a reasonable person would have thought the same. Davis, 282 S.C. at 46, 317 S.E.2d at 453.

She could have taken a picture of Jody and Victim together, if that is what she actually was after, and simply driven away from the intersection rather than engage in an argument with Jody and then fire a weapon into Victim's vehicle. Davis, *supra*. She could have easily retreated without using deadly force. Id.

Furthermore, both the State and the Defense accurately stated the elements of self-defense to the extent they had any applicability, and both the State and the Defense accurately stated the evidence presented by their side that either did not support all of the elements of self-defense or did support all of the elements of self-defense. (R. 671-737).

Finally, the jury knew from the court's jury instructions, that if the jury believed Catoe's version of events, they were required to find her not guilty. (R. 738-763). The Court charged the jury that Catoe could not be found guilty unless the State proved criminal intent. The Court also charged the jury on criminal intent. The Court defined malice. It explained to the jury that malice is hatred or hostility to another. The Court informed the jury that malice is the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances in which the law will infer as an evil intent. The Court also explained transferred

intent, and for that to apply Catoe would have had to attempt to murder Jody, and the bullet struck Victim. The jury knew if they found Catoe intentionally fired the gun at Jody or Victim, she would be guilty of murder. The jury knew if the gun discharged accidentally, she could not be found guilty of murder only involuntary manslaughter, and if she did not act with recklessness, she would have to be found not guilty pursuant to the defense of accident. The jury knew if the shooting was truly an accident as Catoe described, she must be found not guilty. If she intentionally shot Victim with malice, Catoe was guilty of murder. (R. 671-763). State v. Stoots, 445 S.C. 127, 136-39, 912 S.E.2d 248, 253-55 (2025)(court's criminal intent charge covered the principle involved in accident charge and there was therefore no error in failing to charge Stoots requested accident charge); State v. Owens, 433 S.C. 482, 860 S.E.2d 357, 357-58 (2021)(where the defendant asserts accident the State must prove a voluntary intentional act with malice). Catoe's problem was she was caught in multiple lies during her testimony and her e-mails showed she was jealous of the victim, was basically stalking the victim and Catoe's estranged husband, had threatened Victim, and she confronted Victim and Catoe's estranged husband Jody in the dark and shot Victim in the neck with a gun that required 4 ½ pounds of trigger pull to fire and would not fire accidentally. (R. 413-575). Any error in not charging additional principles of self-defense was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Brooks, 428 S.C. 618, 633, 837 S.E.2d 236 (Ct. App. 2019).

## CONCLUSION

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